UNITED
NATIONS E

Di str.

Economic and Social GENERAL

Councill

E/ C. 12/ 1996/ SR. 32
5 March 1997

ENGLI SH
Original: FRENCH

COWM TTEE ON ECONOM C, SOCI AL AND CULTURAL RI GHTS
Fi fteenth session
SUMMARY RECORD OF THE 32nd MEETI NG

Hel d at the Palais des Nations, Geneva,
on Wednesday, 20 Novenber 1996, at 3 p.m

Chai rperson: M. ALVAREZ VITA

CONTENTS

CONSI DERATI ON OF REPORTS

(a) REPORTS SUBM TTED BY STATES PARTI ES | N ACCORDANCE W TH ARTI CLES 16
AND 17 OF THE COVENANT (conti nued)

Second periodic report of Portugal (Macau) (continued)

This record is subject to correction.

Corrections should be submitted in one of the working | anguages. They
shoul d be set forth in a nmenorandum and al so incorporated in a copy of the
record. They should be sent within one week of the date of this docunent to
the Oficial Records Editing Section, roomE. 4108, Palais des Nations, Geneva.

Any corrections to the records of the neetings of the Conmttee at this
session will be consolidated in a single corrigendumto be issued shortly
after the end of the session

GE. 96-19197 (E)



E/ C. 12/ 1996/ SR. 32
page 2

The neeting was called to order at 3.15 p.m

CONSI DERATI ON OF REPORTS

(a) REPORTS SUBM TTED BY STATES PARTIES | N ACCORDANCE W TH ARTI CLES 16
AND 17 OF THE COVENANT (agenda item 4) (continued)

Second periodic report of Portugal (Macau) (continued) (E/ 1990/6/Add.8 and
E/ C. 12/ 1995/ LQ 10)

1. At the invitation of the Chairperson, the Portuguese del egation took
places at the Conmmittee table.

Issues relating to the general provisions of the Covenant (arts. 1 to 5)

2. M. COSTA OLIVEIRA (Portugal), continuing his replies to questions from
menbers of the Conmittee, said that Portuguese civil servants in posts subject
to localization were generally expatriates, nost of whom would be returning to
Portugal and woul d receive conpensation if they were assigned to a post at a

| ower | evel than the one they had occupied in Macau. Sonme would be retiring
and others with a good knowl edge of Macau would be invited to stay on as
advisers. The private sector was for the nmpbst part run by Macau' s Chi nese
comunity and its future did not give rise to any concern

Issues relating to the specific provisions of the Covenant (arts. 6 to 15)

3. M. RATTRAY requested clarification as to how far the right to strike
was protected in practice and what the attitude of the public and the business
world was to that right. He would Iike to know whether there had been any
cases of reprisals against strikers and whether neasures taken to deal wth
stri kes had caused concern

4, M. GRISSA observed out that the dates indicated in the Portuguese
Governnment's witten replies (docunent with no synmbol distributed by the
Portuguese del egation in English) gave the day and nmonth of the adoption of
certain neasures, but not the year. \What, noreover, was the situation
regarding the right to formtrade unions if, as Portugal affirmed, collective
bar gai ni ng was not customary in Chinese | abour relations?

5. M. TEXIER, referring to articles 6 and 7 of the Covenant, asked what
protection there was for workers in cases of occupational injury or illness,
whet her the Labour Inspectorate had the power not only to enforce the
regul ati ons but also to take preventive action by, for exanple, requiring that
work be stopped on a site it considered dangerous, and |astly whether breaches
of the | abour |aws were puni shed.

6. The terms for the dismssal of a worker - for exanple, in the event of
restructuring - were not explained in detail in Portugal's report, which did
not make it clear whether a dism ssal could be negotiated and whether there
were renedi es available to workers claimng to have been wongly treated.



E/ C. 12/ 1996/ SR. 32
page 3

7. M s. BONOAN- DANDAN sai d that she had noted sone inconsistencies as

bet ween paragraphs 92, 93, 95, 97 and 100 of the report (E/ 1990/6/Add. 8)
concerning the inplenentation of article 7 of the Covenant in Macau. If, as
i ndi cated in paragraph 93, there was no statistical information regarding the
di stribution of incone between the public and private sectors, she could not
see what basis there was for the statenents contained in the remai nder of that
par agraph and i n paragraph 92, or for the figures calculated for the public
sector in table 4. Likewise, it was difficult to make an appreciation of the
situation of non-resident workers fromthe information in paragraphs 95 and
100, according to which “the | aw covers all categories of workers”, whereas
“non-resident workers are not covered by the Labour Law'. Lastly, in the
absence of statistics, what enpirical data justified the statenment in

par agraph 97 that there was no discrimnation agai nst any group of workers?

8. M. COSTA OLIVEIRA (Portugal) recognized that while the wording of a

| egislative text indicated the year in which it had been adopted, the sanme was
not true for other measures or decisions; the person drafting the witten
replies had, indeed, overlooked that point.

9. Replying to the questions on the right to strike, he said that the right
to strike existed in |law but tended not to be exercised in practice since

Chi nese culture preferred negotiation and settlement to open conflict. Unions
and enpl oyers m ght be put under very strong pressure, including frompublic
opinion, to find a solution. Strikes were very rare, nore often affecting

the public sector, and were initiated only in connection with very serious
matters, such as non-paynent of wages for several consecutive nonths.

10. The right to formand join trade unions did, of course, exist but the
unions preferred to call thensel ves “workers' associations” and ainmed to
pronote settlenments rather than resort to industrial action. Collective
bar gai ni ng as such was unconmon since the parties preferred to come to an
under st andi ng directly anongst thensel ves, w thout the presence of a
Government representative, as required by Portuguese |aw. That point had
adm ttedly not been nmade in the report.

11. The powers of the Labour I|Inspectorate and the regul ati ons concerning
di smi ssals were altogether satisfactory. Macau still needed non-resident
wor kers, and even where restructuring took place, workers were generally
retrained rather than dism ssed. The regulations concerning dismnmssals were
none the less interpreted very liberally in Macau: a dismssal had, of
course, to be justified in theory but the enployer did have the easier role.

12. M. LOUREIRO (Portugal) said that a dism ssed worker could ask the
Labour Inspectorate to take up his case. A inspector woul d endeavour to help
the two parties reach an agreenment, in conpliance with the [aw, w thout going
to court. \When a dismissal was unfair, the parties would agree on
conpensation, but if the enployer believed that the dism ssal was fair, the
matter woul d be deci ded by the conpetent court. |In the case of an accident at
wor k, the inspector made out a report; if the accident had not resulted in
death or serious injury, the court would sinply determ ne the anpunt of
conpensation due to the victim



E/ C. 12/ 1996/ SR. 32
page 4

13. M. TEXIER, speaking on a point of order, said that the Portuguese

del egation had not replied to his question concerning the preventive role of
the Labour | nspectorate and any powers it mght have to close a site that it
consi dered dangerous.

14. M. LOUREIRO (Portugal) said that the applicable regulations were the
sanme as those in Europe. The Inspectorate was bound to sanction any breaches
it noted and if an inspector believed that lives were at risk, he would

i medi ately report the matter to the Director of the Labour |nspectorate, who
could order the closure of the site.

15. M. COSTA OLIVEIRA (Portugal), referring to paragraphs 92, 93 and 97 of
the report, indicated that the Macau Labour | nspectorate had not registered
any conpl aint concerning a violation of the principle of equal pay for equal
wor k. There was, however, always the possibility that in Macau, as el sewhere,
such cases m ght occur

16. M . ADEKUOYE said that, according to the docunent “Country Reports

on Human Rights Practices for 1994”, which had been published by the

United States Departnent of State and was quoted in the country analysis
prepared for the Conmittee by the secretariat for the Commttee
(E/C. 12/ CA/ 23), many manual and ot her workers from China and other countries
were wor ki ng between 10 and 12 hours a day, often earning wages that were |ess
than half of those paid to Macau residents for the same work. The docunent

al so indicated that, according to the official statistics for 1993,

32.7 per cent of wage earners worked seven days a week. He would wel conme
clarification fromthe Portuguese del egation on that natter.

17. M. COSTA OLIVEIRA (Portugal) said that he had read the document in
guestion and that Portugal had, furthernore, entered a protest in that regard
and called for some of the information in it to be corrected. As far as the
authorities knew, there was no violation of the principle of equal pay for
equal work in Macau. He also wished to assure M. Adekuoye that overtime in
Macau was paid at the normal rate in accordance with the law or, in sone
sectors, on the basis of collective bargaining agreenents.

18. Wth reference to paragraphs 95 and 100 of the report, on the |ega
protection of non-resident workers, he wi shed to point out that the workers
concerned were authorized to stay in Macau on a tenporary basis to perform
specific jobs. Inits witten reply to question No. 12 of the list of issues,
the Governnent indicated that non-resident workers were protected by specia
provi sions (Governor's Orders Nos. 12/ GV 88 and 49/ GV 88), whi ch guar ant eed

t hem appropriate | odging and social protection, in particular for accidents at
wor k and occupational illness. Such protection did exist, therefore, even if
it was not as good as that enjoyed by resident workers. He would provide
clarification as soon as possible regarding the method used to compile the
statistical data given in paragraph 93 of the report.

19. Ms. JIMENEZ BUTRAGUENO sai d that she would |ike more information on the
difference in social protection as between resident and non-resident workers.
Did the latter have to pay social insurance contributions?




E/ C. 12/ 1996/ SR. 32
page 5

20. M . CEAUSU observed that the statistical information in the report was
old, sone of it going back to 1987, and should be brought up to date. He
woul d furthernmore like to know the frequency of | abour inspections in Macau
It woul d appear that such inspections were carried out only when a worker or
uni on | odged a conplaint. They should, however, be performed routinely.
Tables 5 and 6 showed an increase in the nunber of victins of occupationa
accidents, thus indicating that inspections were not sufficiently frequent.
He noted, in particular, that sone accidents were due to over-exertion
Therefore, hours worked were sonetines excessive, as naintained by the
United States Departnent of State in the docunent cited by M. Adekuoye. He
requested some clarification in that regard.

21. M . ADEKUOYE said that the Comm ttee needed recent statistics and those
contained in the report certainly should be updated. Wth regard to table 5
(nunber of victinms of occupational accidents by age group), he would like to
know how many children aged 14 to 18 years were victinms of occupationa
accidents. The 14-24 age group would have to be split for that purpose.

22. Ms. JIMENEZ BUTRAGUENO sai d she was concerned by the fact that the

I nternational Labour Organization (I1LO Conventions relating to article 7 of
the Covenant (right to just and favourable conditions of work) mght no | onger
be in force in Macau after 1999. She would also |like to know what was neant
by “workers' associations ... simlar to trade unions” in paragraph 103 of the
report. Were those associations real trade unions? Lastly, she was surprised
by the |l ack of social protest in Macau and by the passivity of the genera
public. Was the influence of China perhaps already naking itself felt?

23. Ms. BONOAN- DANDAN sai d that she was famliar with Macau and knew t hat
Macau' s Chi nese popul ation was afraid about the future. It was not enough to
say that the |abour inspectorate had not been inforned of any case of a
violation of the principle of equal pay for equal work. Furthernore, she was
surprised that the Departnent for Statistics and Census was unable to provide
recent data on a population of only 400,000. How had it been possible to
furni sh precise data on accidents due to exposure to extrene tenperatures, for
exanpl e, and yet give no indication of any case of sexual harassment? She
would Iike information on the situation of casino enployees, who represented a
si zeabl e part of the |abour force in Macau. Lastly, the Conmttee needed nore
concrete information and the Governnent should make every effort, including by
means of the collection of full statistical data, to protect the economc,
social, and cultural rights of the Macau popul ati on

24. M. GRISSA requested sone clarification regardi ng paragraphs 103 and 104
of the report, which he found so confusing and contradictory as to be
i nconpr ehensi bl e.

25. M . ADEKUOYE said that he would |like nore information about the illega
i mm gration of workers into Macau and the neasures being taken by the
Governnment to deal with such inmgration

26. M. THAPALI A asked for some clarification about working conditions and
col l ective bargaining in the building sector




E/ C. 12/ 1996/ SR. 32
page 6

27. M. COSTA OLIVEIRA said that Macau was subject to very strong mgratory
pressure especially fromthe People's Republic of China. The authorities of
the territory assuned the nunber of illegal inmgrants to be very high
despite the very strict border control policy.

28. As non-resident workers were by definition expected to stay only
tenporarily in the territory, they were not required to pay social insurance
contributions, since they would be unable to enjoy the benefits.

29. Wth regard to hours worked, it was true that enpl oyees mght in sone
cases be called upon to work seven days a week when a particular job had to be
finished on tine, but that was by no neans the general rule.

30. Lastly, the Macau authorities had no information on cases of

di scrim nation because they had quite sinply not been notified of any
situations of that kind. Acts of discrimnation mght occur and in such cases
the authorities would, of course, be perfectly ready to take action, but to
date no conplaint had been nmade in that regard. It was difficult to imgine
why the | abour inspectorate, which had reported a nunber of violations of the
| abour |l aw in other spheres, would hide cases of discrimnation

31. M s. BONOAN- DANDAN, speaking on a point of order, said that she had in
no way neant to suggest that the Macau authorities m ght be concealing cases
of discrimnation

32. M. COSTA OLIVEIRA (Portugal) said that casino enpl oyees were al nost al
resi dent workers and they were covered by the general |abour |aws and paid
taxes |li ke other workers. He had no information to suggest that there were
particul ar probl ens of sexual harassnent in the casino sector

33. Responding to the comments nmade by M. Grissa, he recogni zed that

par agraph 104 of the report was poorly drafted. |In fact, the right to strike
applied without reservation to the whole territory of Macau. There was,
however, no regul ation specifying the nature of the entities which could cal
a strike, the anount of warning required and other details applicable to the
right to strike. Concerning paragraph 103 of the report, it should be nade
clear that any group wishing to create a trade union could do so. The point
was sinply that, for cultural reasons, people in Macau preferred to establish
wor kers' associ ati ons, which were not really trade unions, although they were
simlar to themin the way they functioned. The [aw did not provide any
mechani sm for col |l ective bargai ning.

34. Lastly, his delegation would provide all the statistics available to it,
al though in sone cases they were not organi zed according to the same criteria
as those used in the reporting guidelines.

35. M. CRISSA asked whether the fact that collective bargaini ng was not
provi ded for by law neant that it was ill egal

36. M. COSTA OLIVEIRA (Portugal) said that collective bargaining in no way
constituted an offence. The fact was sinply that agreenents concluded between
a workers' association and an enpl oyers' association after collective
bar gai ni ng were not notified to the Governnent and were not registered by it.




E/ C. 12/ 1996/ SR. 32
page 7

37. Ms. JI MENEZ BUTRAGUENO asked whet her the workers' associ ations were
affiliated to international trade union federations.

38. M. COSTA OLIVEIRA (Portugal) replied that he did not have information
covering all workers' associations but he knew that the civil servants
associ ation, for exanple, was affiliated to a mgjor international federation

39. M. LOUREIRO (Portugal) said that the information contained in
Portugal's report concerning the I1LO conventions accepted by the Territory was
i nconpl ete and that Conventions Nos. 1, 12, 26, 29, 73, 81, 88, 98, 100, 105,
106, 107, and 111 were all applied in Macau

40. M. COSTA OLIVEIRA (Portugal) said that the Portuguese authorities were
di scussing further with the Chinese authorities the question of the continued
application of the international instrunents in force in Macau. In that
regard, it should be pointed out that under a specific provision of the Basic
Law of the Macau Special Adm nistrative Region of the People's Republic of
China, the 1LO conventions and the two International Covenants on Human Ri ghts
would remain in force after the transfer of sovereignty. Discussions would,
however, be pursued on the conditions under which those instrunments would
continue to be applicable.

41. Regardi ng the comment that Macau soci ety seened nore passive than

Hong Kong society, he recognized that the Chinese influence on Macau was very
consi derabl e, but wi shed to point out that the People's Republic of China had
al ways respected the principle that Portugal was responsible for the

adm nistration of the Territory. Macau society mght well be less active and
less mlitant than Hong Kong society, but that could be explained by the fact
that a | arge part of the population in Hong Kong had been living there for two
or three generations and had a keen sense of bel ongi ng which had no equi val ent
in a very large part of the Macau popul ation. One should, however, be very
wary about drawi ng conclusions that mght justify a | oss of autonony for
Macau.

42. The CHAI RPERSON i nvited the nmenbers of the Conmittee to exam ne the
issues relating to the inplenentation of article 9 of the Covenant.

43. Ms. JIMENEZ BUTRAGUENO, turning to the question of ol d-age pensions,
asked whether there were any statistics on the nunber of ol der persons within
t he Macau popul ation. It seened to her, furthernore, that there was some
discrimnation in relation to ol d-age pensions between civil servants and
private sector workers and she would be grateful for clarification in that
regard. She would also like to know whet her people not meeting the conditions
stated in paragraph 130 of the report received an ol d-age pension and, if so,
on what terns. It would |likew se be interesting to know how the ol d-age
pensi on compared with the m ni mum wage and whet her retired persons were
entitled to health care.

44, M. GRISSA said that in the case of Macau, as in that of Hong Kong, he
was concerned about what woul d happen after the transfer of sovereignty to the
Peopl e's Republic of China. He would therefore |ike to know whet her any

provi sion of the agreenent concluded wi th China provided for ol d-age pensions
and the savings of retired persons to be maintained. |In addition, it was hard



E/ C. 12/ 1996/ SR. 32
page 8

to i magi ne that the Chinese authorities would allow Macau's casinos to remain
open and he was therefore concerned about the future of the many people
wor ki ng in that sector

45. M. ADEKUOYE requested clarification regardi ng paragraph 110 of the
report, which stated that of the 15,6700 civil servants in the Territory, 8,000
were active subscribers to the Macau Pensions Fund and 3,091 others were
non-acti ve subscribers. Wo were the other 4,500 civil servants and were they
entitled to a retirenent pension? Furthernmore, it would be interesting to
know how the civil servants' retirenment pension conpared with the cost of
living and with the salary earned during active life. Lastly, were the
retirement pensions raised as salaries increased?

46. Ms. BONOAN- DANDAN, referring to paragraph 140 of the report, asked
whet her non-resident workers were entitled, |ike resident workers, to
maternity |l eave with paid salary up to a maxi mum of three births.

47. M. CEAUSU observed, also with reference to paragraph 140, that

non-resi dent workers did not have the sane social protection entitlements as
resi dent workers. He would welcone clarification on that point. Concerning
accidents at work (para. 136 of the report), he was surprised that in 1993 the
Soci al Security Fund (SSF) had paid an anpunt of MOP 200, 000 to one worker

48. M . ADEKUOYE asked whet her non-resident workers received a | unp sum at
the end of their contract before returning to their country of origin

49. M. COSTA OLIVEIRA (Portugal) said that no such clause was included in
t he enmpl oynent contracts of non-resident workers.

50. M. ALEIXO (Portugal) said that while it was not necessary to have
subscribed to the SSF to obtain the social pension (MOP 600 per nonth),
beneficiari es must be over 65 and nust have resided in Macau for at |east
seven years. In 1996, 5,570 people were receiving that pension (see
para. 129).

51. To be entitled to an ol d-age pension (MOP 1,000 per nonth), it was
necessary not only to be over 65 years of age and to have been resident for
nmore than seven years in the Territory, but also to have subscribed to the SSF
for at least 60 nmonths. 1In 1996, there were 2,395 beneficiaries, as against
1,821 in 1995 (see para. 130). Civil servants, whose pensions were nuch the
sanme as those of workers in the private sector and were raised at the sane
time as salaries, nust have worked in the public service for at |east 15 years
to be entitled to a pension

52. The financial situation of the SSF was currently good but likely to be
somewhat |ess so in the future because of the expected increase in the nunber
of beneficiaries.

53. The payment of MOP 200,000 by the SSF in 1993 to a victimof an acci dent
at work had been made in accordance with the law requiring the SSF to pay
conpensation instead of the enployer when the latter did not have the
financial neans to discharge his obligations in respect of his enployees, for
exanpl e, in cases of bankruptcy (para. 135).



E/ C. 12/ 1996/ SR. 32
page 9

54. Lastly, health-care services were free for ol der persons in Mcau
55. M. COSTA OLIVEIRA (Portugal) said that all wonmen working in Macau

whet her resident or non-resident, were entitled to maternity [eave with paid
salary up to a mexi mum of three births.

56. The savings, pensions and social entitlenents of persons residing in
Macau, including civil servants, would be maintained after the transition
period, in accordance with the Sino-Portuguese Joint Declaration. The

Decl arati on al so contained special provisions for the naintenance of casinos
after the retrocession in view of their inportance to the Territory's econony.

57. M. CEAUSU expressed surprise that enployers had to pay contri butions of
MOP 30 per month for each non-resident worker (para. 137 (b)) when, according
to paragraph 140, such workers were excluded fromthe social security system

58. M s. BONOAN- DANDAN sai d that depriving salaried workers of paid
maternity | eave after the third child was in her view contrary to article 10,
par agraph 2, of the Covenant.

59. Ms. JIMENEZ BUTRAGUENO associ ated herself with the concerns expressed
by the two previous speakers and asked whet her a worker could be sure of
returning to her job after taking | eave to give birth to a fourth child.

60. M. COSTA OLIVEIRA (Portugal) said that the | aw required enpl oyers to
pay the SSF a contribution of MOP 30 per nmonth for each non-resident worker
but only MOP 20 per nonth for each resident worker in order to encourage them
to recruit resident workers.

61. It should be pointed out that while wonmen were not entitled to paid
maternity | eave as fromthe fourth child, they were free to choose the nunber
of children they wanted and could be sure of resum ng their enploynment after
taking | eave for childbirth, the costs of which were borne by the socia
security system Those entitlenments would be maintained after the transition
peri od.

62. Al t hough non-resident workers were in effect excluded fromthe socia
security system since they did not subscribe to it, they did enjoy the
measures of protection relating, for exanple, to accidents at work and
occupational illness, which were provided for by a specific |aw

The neeting rose at 6 p.m




